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STATE OF WASHINGTON 
KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
ACN & ASSOCIATES LLC, a 
Washington limited liability company; 
ANA CAROLINE PINTO DO 
NASCIMENTO, individually. 
 
 Defendants. 
 

NO.  
 
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND 
OTHER RELIEF UNDER THE 
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT 
(RCW 19.86), AND THE 
IMMIGRATION SERVICES FRAUD 
PREVENTION ACT (RCW 19.154) 

Plaintiff, State of Washington, by and through its attorneys Robert W. Ferguson, 

Attorney General, and Susana Croke and Alexandra Kory, Assistant Attorneys General, brings 

this action against Defendants Ana Caroline Pinto Do Nascimento (“Nascimento”) and her 

business, ACN & Associates LLC (“ACN” and collectively, “Defendants”). The State alleges that 

Defendants engaged in unfair and deceptive acts or practices in violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act, RCW 19.86, and the Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act, RCW 19.154. 

The State alleges the following on information and belief: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Since at least February 2022, Defendants have targeted Portuguese-speaking 

consumers in Washington by unlawfully offering to provide and providing legal services in 

immigration matters without a license.  
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1.2 Nascimento is not an attorney nor is her work supervised by an attorney. 

Nascimento is also not an “accredited representative” under the federal scheme permitting 

limited non-attorney representation before various immigration courts.  

1.3 ACN does not employ anyone licensed to practice law in any jurisdiction, 

commonwealth, or territory of the United States of America, or otherwise authorized to represent 

others in immigration matters.  

1.4 Defendants have violated the Consumer Protection Act and Immigration Services 

Fraud Prevention Act by representing that they possess professional legal skills in the area of 

immigration law. Defendants represent themselves to consumers as able to assist them in a 

variety of immigration matters such as applications for permanent residency (also known as 

“Green Card” applications); employment based applications like EB-1, EB-2, and EB-3 visas; 

work authorization applications; and asylum petitions. Defendants’ marketing also deceives 

consumers by creating the net impression that ACN is a law firm, that Nascimento is an attorney, 

or that Nascimento is affiliated with, or supervised by, an attorney.  

1.5 Defendants, during the time period relevant in this action, engaged in the business 

of selling legal services to customers. Defendants selected and filled out immigration forms, 

prepared petitions for immigration benefits, obtained and collected documents required to process 

such forms, provided legal advice to customers on immigration matters and other matters, filed 

forms with the immigration authorities, and held themselves out to the public as able to do all of the 

above in exchange for payment.  

1.6 Defendants were not qualified to do any of this. Defendants claim to specialize in 

immigration law, yet have negligently prepared documents, filed papers in the wrong office, 

failed to attach required documentation, and performed no or little work for services for which 

they were paid.  

1.7 Despite ample notice that their practices are unlawful—including a Cease and 

Desist notice from the U.S. Department of Justice, Executive Office of Immigration Review—
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Defendants continue to unlawfully market and provide legal services in immigration matters. 

The State therefore respectfully requests that the Court restrain and enjoin Defendants from 

marketing and providing immigration and other legal services and unlawfully practicing law. 

The State also seeks penalties and restitution pursuant to the Consumer Protection Act. 

II. PARTIES 

2.1 The Plaintiff is the State of Washington. The Attorney General is authorized to 

commence this action pursuant to RCW 19.86.080, RCW 19.86.140, and RCW 19.154.090.  

2.2 Defendant Ana Caroline Pinto Do Nascimento, also known as “Ana Nascimento,” 

is an individual currently residing in California. She formerly resided in Seattle, Washington until 

about July 2022. She is the sole owner and Chief Executive Officer of ACN & Associates LLC, 

and exercises control over the company’s functions.  

2.3 Defendant ACN & Associates LLC is a Washington Limited Liability Company 

with its principal place of business located at 9030 35th Avenue SW, Suite B, Seattle WA 98126.  

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3.1 The State files this Complaint and institutes these proceedings under the 

provisions of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86, and the Immigration Services Fraud 

Prevention Act, RCW 19.154.  

3.2 Defendants have engaged in the conduct set forth in this Complaint in King 

County and elsewhere in the State of Washington.  

3.3 Venue is proper in King County pursuant to RCW 4.12.020 and 4.12.025, and 

Court Rule 82 because ACN is headquartered and transacts business in King County. 

3.4 The Attorney General has the authority to commence this action as conferred by 

RCW 19.86.080 and RCW 19.86.140. 

IV. NATURE OF TRADE OR COMMERCE  

4.1 Defendants, at all times relevant to this action, have been engaged in trade or 

commerce within the meaning of RCW 19.86.010(2), by offering, and actually selling, immigration 
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and other legal services to Washington consumers. 

V. FACTS 

Defendants Illegally Market and Sell Immigration Related Legal Services  

5.1 Since at least February 2022, Defendants Nascimento, and her firm, ACN, have 

marketed immigration-related legal services to immigrants in Washington seeking to obtain a 

benefit under the immigration laws of the United States of America. Nascimento holds herself 

and her firm out to consumers as having expertise or specialty in immigration law.  

5.2 Defendants’ business model consists of charging a fee for selecting and filling 

out immigration forms on behalf of customers and for acting as an intermediary, counselor, 

translator, and legal adviser with respect to the customers’ application for a benefit under the 

immigration laws of the United States. 

5.3 At all times relevant to this action, Defendants have advertised or otherwise held 

themselves out as willing and able to provide for-profit services representing purported clients 

in pursuing benefits under the immigration laws of the United States of America. 

5.4 Nascimento is not licensed to practice law in any jurisdiction, commonwealth, or 

territory of the United States of America.  

5.5 Nascimento is not authorized to represent others in immigration matters. Nor is 

Nascimento an “accredited representative” under a federal scheme permitting limited non-

attorney representation before various immigration courts.1  

5.6 ACN does not employ anyone licensed to practice law in any jurisdiction, 

commonwealth, or territory of the United States of America, or otherwise authorized to represent 
                                                 

1 Federal regulations at 8 C.F.R. § 1292.1(a)(4) allow non-attorney “Accredited Representatives” to 
represent aliens before the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) and the Executive Office for Immigration 
Review (EOIR), which includes the immigration courts and the Board of Immigration Appeals (BIA). These 
representatives are accredited through the Recognition and Accreditation (R&A) Program, which aims to increase 
the availability of competent immigration legal representation for low-income and indigent persons, thereby 
promoting the effective and efficient administration of justice. Accredited Representatives may only provide 
immigration legal services through Recognized Organizations. Only non-profit, federally tax-exempt entities may 
apply to be recognized. (https://www.justice.gov/eoir/recognition-and-accreditation-program). 
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others in immigration matters. No attorney supervises or reviews Nascimento’s work or ACN’s 

operations. 

5.7 Defendants advertised their business to the general public on the Internet at 

https://acnassociates.com and claimed to provide “[e]xpertise you can rely on” and offer 

“immigration law you can understand.”  

5.8 Through ACN’s website, https://acnassociates.com, Nascimento represents to 

the public that she specializes “in Immigration Law, working [on] petitions to the United States 

Citizenship and Immigration Services since 2019 to request immigration and non-immigration 

benefits.”  

5.9 Defendants advertise and offer immigration-related legal services for a fee to the 

general public in the state of Washington. Defendants offer assistance with immigration related 

matters, including “Green Card,” “EB1/2/3 Visas,” “Work Permits,” “Status Extension,” 

“Change of Status,” “Asylum,” and “Citizenship.”  

Defendants’ Deceptive Acts and Practices Target and Impact Immigrants from 

Brazil 

5.10 Defendants’ advertising targets consumers based on their national origin and/or 

citizenship, specifically monolingual Portuguese speaking immigrants from Brazil through the 

internet, mobile applications, and direct communication. 

5.11 Since at least July 2022, Defendants’ website provides information and offers 

services exclusively in Portuguese.  

5.12 Defendants’ website represents that ACN seeks to be the best service provider in 

their “Brazilian culture.”  

5.13 Defendants’ website offers the ability to communicate with Defendants and 

request a quote by messaging Defendants on WhatsApp, a text and voice messaging application 

that is popular around the world, including with immigrants from Brazil.  
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5.14 On information and belief, Defendants have also advertised immigration-related 

legal services on WhatsApp group channels known to include Brazilian immigrants.  

5.15 Defendants communicated with consumers in Portuguese. Defendants hired an 

additional two individuals, “Brenno Bandeira” and “Larissa Matias,” both located in Rio de 

Janeiro, Brazil, to help in communicating with the various Portuguese speaking consumers, 

including via WhatsApp.  

5.16 Defendants’ advertising to Brazilian immigrants succeeded. All or most of 

Defendants’ customers are monolingual Portuguese speaking immigrants from Brazil.  

Defendants Told Consumers They Would Represent Them in Immigration 

Proceedings 

5.17 When consumers reached out to Defendants to request legal assistance in an 

immigration matter, including the assistance of a lawyer to accompany them to an upcoming 

court hearing, Defendants represented they could assist them.  

5.18 Defendants have entered into written and oral agreements to provide, and have 

attempted to provide, the following for-profit services to numerous Portuguese speaking 

consumers in Washington: selecting and filling out immigration forms; advising consumers on 

immigration law; choosing and gathering the documents necessary for submission of a petition 

for immigration benefits with the immigration authorities; and submitting documents on behalf 

of consumers to the immigration authorities—all of which constitute the unauthorized practice 

of law. 

5.19 Defendants provide customers with a Contract for Services with ACN stating that 

ACN would provide immigration related legal services, including completing petitions for 

asylum and applications for work authorization—which, again, constitute the unauthorized 

practice of law.  

5.20 Defendants’ contracts provide for fees ranging from $2,300 for applications for 

work authorization to as much as $6,000 for asylum petitions.  
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5.21 Defendants’ contracts are signed by Nascimento on behalf of ACN. 

5.22 Defendants’ contracts for services are entirely in English. 

5.23 On information and belief, Defendants failed to provide a contract in the 

customer’s language, or otherwise fully translate the contract to their Portuguese speaking 

customers. 

5.24 Based on their written and oral communications with Defendants, consumers 

were led to believe that ACN was a law firm and that Nascimento was an attorney.  

5.25 Based on their written and oral communications with Defendants, consumers 

were led to believe that Nascimento would represent them in their immigration case and 

accompany them to their court hearings.  

5.26 At times, Defendants failed to accompany their clients to court hearings. 

Defendants failed to tell their customers that Nascimento would not represent them in court until 

the day before or the same day of their court hearing, if at all.  

5.27 When their customers requested that Defendants return all fees they paid, upon 

learning that Defendants could not represent them in court, Defendants refused.  

Defendants Were Made Aware That Their Practices Are Illegal 

5.28 On April 20, 2022, the U.S. Department of Justice, Executive Office of 

Immigration Review (EOIR), sent a Cease and Desist letter to Nascimento notifying Nascimento 

that her practices may be illegal.  

5.29 The Cease and Desist stated that a number of individual noncitizens had recently 

appeared in Immigration Court in Seattle and Tacoma, Washington, and had reported that 

Nascimento represented herself as an attorney or as otherwise able to assist them in immigration 

matters. Several complained that they expected her to appear but she backed out at the last 

moment.  



 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER 
RELIEF - 8 
 

 ATTORNEY GENERAL OF WASHINGTON 
Consumer Protection Division 
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 

Seattle, WA 98104-3188 
(206) 464-7744 

 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

5.30 The Cease and Desist notified Nascimento that such actions, if true, would 

amount to a crime under Washington law, specifically, the Unauthorized Practice of Law, and 

could even amount to fraud.  

5.31 Shortly after Defendants received the Cease and Desist, they updated their 

website from English to Portuguese. While the website changed some details, it continues to 

market legal services to consumers.  

5.32 Therefore, despite the Cease and Desist, Defendants continue to practice law and 

market legal services to Washington consumers, particularly monolingual Portuguese speaking 

immigrants from Brazil in Washington and the rest of the country.  

Defendants Deceptively Represented that ACN Would Supply an Attorney and 

Collected Illegal Fees 

5.33 In or about May 2022, Defendants began claiming they could offer their clients 

the option to be represented by an attorney.  

5.34 On or about May 2022, Nascimento contacted Agatha-Sandra Kingsley-Emeh, 

an immigration attorney in Ohio, to offer referrals of clients in need of immigration services.  

5.35 Since Kingsley-Emeh does not speak Portuguese, Nascimento offered to translate 

for her and the clients.  

5.36 Kingsley-Emeh agreed to meet individuals for a consultation, provided they filled 

out a client intake form, executed a consultation agreement, and paid a $150 consultation fee.  

5.37 Kingsley-Emeh never agreed to represent all of Defendants’ clients and she 

maintains an independent law practice. 

5.38 Kingsley-Emeh instructed consumers to pay her directly.  

5.39 On information and belief, Defendants instructed consumers to pay Defendants 

instead. 

5.40 On information and belief, Defendants collected payments from consumers 

beyond what Kingsley-Emeh charged them before submitting funds to Kingsley-Emeh.  
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5.41 On information and belief, Kingsley-Emeh has stopped accepting clients through 

Defendants.  

5.42 Defendants offered to consumers the services of an attorney despite the fact that 

no attorney had agreed to represent them.  

5.43 Defendants have executed service agreements with consumers providing that 

Kingsley-Emeh would represent them in court, despite the fact that Kingsley-Emeh had not 

agreed to represent them.  

5.44 Defendants have billed consumers for attorney’s fees despite the fact that no 

attorney had agreed to or, in fact, did represent them.  

Defendants’ Illegal Conduct is Ongoing 

5.45 Defendants continue to offer and sell immigration related legal services to 

consumers without the assistance of an attorney, including selecting and filling out immigration 

forms; advising consumers on immigration law; choosing and gathering the documents 

necessary for submission of a petition for immigration benefits with the immigration authorities; 

and submitting documents on behalf of consumers to the immigration authorities.  

5.46 Defendants continue to advertise immigration related legal services to consumers 

over the internet, through their website.  

5.47 Defendants, at all times relevant to this action, have been engaged in trade or 

commerce within the meaning of RCW 19.86.010(2), by advertising, marketing, and selling legal 

document preparation services for a fee, including the preparation of immigration forms 

necessary to obtain a benefit under federal immigration laws. Defendants conduct business in 

the state of Washington. 

VI. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation of Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act, RCW 19.154, as Per Se 

Violation of Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86) 

6.1 Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1.1 through 5.47 and incorporates them as if set fully 

herein.  
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6.2 Throughout their course of dealing with customers, Defendants have advertised that 

they possess professional legal skills in the area of immigration. 

6.3 Throughout their course of dealing with customers, Defendants have engaged in the 

practice of selecting and advising numerous customers on their selection of immigration forms and 

benefits among the range of immigration forms and benefits available under the immigration laws 

of the United States of America. 

6.4 Throughout their course of dealing with customers, Defendants have engaged in the 

practice of advising customers as to their answers on government immigration forms in order to 

obtain a desired immigration benefit. 

6.5 Throughout their course of dealing with customers, Defendants have advised 

customers as to the documents necessary to obtain a particular immigration benefit. 

6.6 Washington’s Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act prohibits any person who 

is not licensed to practice law or represent “others under federal law in an immigration matter” from 

offering immigration-related legal services for compensation. 

6.7 Defendants are not authorized to practice law or represent others under federal law 

in an immigration matter.  

6.8 Defendants market, prepare, and sell immigration-related legal services to 

Washington consumers from their Seattle office and on the Internet, in violation of RCW 

19.154.060. 

6.9 Defendants have violated the Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act by 

engaging in prohibited acts or practices including, without limitation, the following acts and 

practices: 

a. Assisting in the selection, preparation, and submission of immigration forms and 

documents for compensation; 

b. Soliciting to prepare documents for another in a judicial or administrative 

proceeding in an immigration matter for compensation; 
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c. Explaining, advising, or otherwise interpreting the meaning or intent of a question 

on a government agency form in an immigration matter for compensation; 

d. Charging a fee for referring another to a person licensed to practice law; 

e. Selecting, drafting, or completing legal documents affecting the legal rights of 

another in an immigration matter for compensation; 

f. Representing that Defendants have expertise or specialize in immigration law, or 

otherwise possess professional legal skills in the area of immigration law; 

g. Representing that Defendants can or are willing to provide services in an 

immigration matter that would constitute the practice of law.  

6.10 Pursuant to RCW 19.154.090, violations of the Immigration Services Fraud 

Prevention Act are per se unfair and deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of trade or commerce, 

substantially affecting the public interest, in violation of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86. 

6.11 Defendant Nascimento controlled and supervised ACN and its unfair and 

deceptive acts and practices. 

VII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Unfair and Deceptive Acts in Violation of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86.020) 

7.1 Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1.1 through 5.47 and incorporates them as if set fully 

herein.  

7.2 Defendants engage in “trade” or “commerce” within the meaning of the Consumer 

Protection Act, RCW 19.86.010(2), by advertising, marketing, selling, and soliciting business from 

Washington consumers at their headquarters in Seattle, and on the Internet. 

7.3 Defendants engage in unfair and deceptive acts and practices in trade or commerce 

including, without limitation, the following acts and practices:  

a. Advertising to the public that they are able to provide immigration-related legal 

services, give competent legal advice, and draft legal documents, when, in fact, 

they are not licensed attorneys, do not employ anyone licensed to practice law, 
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and do not possess the requisite skills, certification, supervision, or expertise to 

practice law in Washington. 

b. Creating the deceptive net impression that Nascimento is an attorney licensed to 

practice law, or otherwise authorized to represent others in immigration matters. 

c. As non-lawyers, marketing and selling, or causing to be sold, immigration-related 

legal documents and legal services to Washington consumers;  

d. As non-lawyers, providing legal advice or counsel to Washington consumers;  

e. As non-lawyers, selecting, drafting, and completing immigration-related legal 

documents for Washington consumers; 

f. Unlawfully practicing law in violation of the State Bar Act (RCW 2.48.180); 

g. Marketing unnecessary legal services to consumers; 

h. Failing to perform and/or negligently performing legal services for clients. 

i. Representing that attorneys are affiliated with and/or supervising ACN’s legal 

services when no such affiliation or supervision exists. 

7.4 Defendants’ conduct affects the public interest because it misrepresents their ability 

to practice law, and has the capacity to deceive consumers into believing they are receiving 

competent legal advice and services. The unlicensed, unregulated, and unsupervised practice of law 

has the potential to harm consumers through negligent and deficient legal advice that impacts 

important legal rights, particularly in the area of immigration.  

7.5 Defendants’ deceptive acts and practices target and impact immigrants from Brazil.  

7.6 Defendant Nascimento controlled and supervised ACN and its unfair and 

deceptive acts and practices. 

VIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the State prays for the following relief: 

8.1 That the Court adjudge and decree that the Defendants have engaged in the conduct 

complained of herein. 
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8.2 That the Court adjudge and decree that the conduct complained of constitutes 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices and is unlawful in violation of the Immigration Services 

Fraud Prevention Act, RCW 19.154. 

8.3 That the Court adjudge and decree that the conduct complained of constitutes 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices and is unlawful in violation of the Consumer Protection Act, 

RCW 19.86. 

8.4 That the Court issue a permanent injunction pursuant to the Consumer Protection 

Act, RCW 19.86.080, enjoining and restraining Defendants and their representatives, successors, 

assigns, offices, agents, servants, employees, and all other persons acting or claiming to act for, 

on behalf of, or in concert or participation with Defendants, from continuing or resuming the 

unlawful conduct complained of herein. 

8.5 That the Court assess civil penalties, pursuant to RCW 19.86.140, against 

Defendants for each and every violation of RCW 19.86.020 caused by the conduct complained 

of herein. 

8.6 That the Court assess an enhanced civil penalty of $5,000, pursuant to RCW 

19.86.140, against Defendants for each and every violation of RCW 19.86.020 caused by 

unlawful acts and practices that target or impact specific individuals or communities based on 

demographic characteristics including race, national origin, citizenship, or immigration status. 

8.7 That the Court, as an equitable remedy, disgorge Defendants of money or property 

acquired by Defendants as a result of the conduct and violations complained of herein. 

8.8 That the Court make such orders pursuant to RCW 19.86.080 as it deems 

appropriate to provide for restitution to consumers of money or property unlawfully acquired by 

Defendants as a result of the conduct complained of herein. 

8.9 That the Court make such orders pursuant to RCW 19.86.080 to provide that the 

Plaintiff, State of Washington, have and recover from Defendants the costs of this action, 

including reasonable attorneys’ fees. 
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8.10 For such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

DATED this 28th day of September, 2022. 

 

     ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
     Attorney General  
 

s/ Susana Croke      
      SUSANA CROKE, WSBA #58315 
      ALEXANDRA KORY, WSBA #49889 
      Assistant Attorneys General 
      Attorneys for Plaintiff State of Washington 
      800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 
      Seattle, WA 98104 
      (206) 464-7744 
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	3.4 The Attorney General has the authority to commence this action as conferred by RCW 19.86.080 and RCW 19.86.140.
	IV. NATURE OF TRADE OR COMMERCE
	4.1 Defendants, at all times relevant to this action, have been engaged in trade or commerce within the meaning of RCW 19.86.010(2), by offering, and actually selling, immigration and other legal services to Washington consumers.
	V. FACTS
	Defendants Illegally Market and Sell Immigration Related Legal Services
	5.1 Since at least February 2022, Defendants Nascimento, and her firm, ACN, have marketed immigration-related legal services to immigrants in Washington seeking to obtain a benefit under the immigration laws of the United States of America. Nascimento...
	5.2 Defendants’ business model consists of charging a fee for selecting and filling out immigration forms on behalf of customers and for acting as an intermediary, counselor, translator, and legal adviser with respect to the customers’ application for...
	5.3 At all times relevant to this action, Defendants have advertised or otherwise held themselves out as willing and able to provide for-profit services representing purported clients in pursuing benefits under the immigration laws of the United State...
	5.4 Nascimento is not licensed to practice law in any jurisdiction, commonwealth, or territory of the United States of America.
	5.5 Nascimento is not authorized to represent others in immigration matters. Nor is Nascimento an “accredited representative” under a federal scheme permitting limited non-attorney representation before various immigration courts.0F
	5.6 ACN does not employ anyone licensed to practice law in any jurisdiction, commonwealth, or territory of the United States of America, or otherwise authorized to represent others in immigration matters. No attorney supervises or reviews Nascimento’s...
	5.7 Defendants advertised their business to the general public on the Internet at https://acnassociates.com and claimed to provide “[e]xpertise you can rely on” and offer “immigration law you can understand.”
	5.8 Through ACN’s website, https://acnassociates.com, Nascimento represents to the public that she specializes “in Immigration Law, working [on] petitions to the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services since 2019 to request immigration and ...
	5.9 Defendants advertise and offer immigration-related legal services for a fee to the general public in the state of Washington. Defendants offer assistance with immigration related matters, including “Green Card,” “EB1/2/3 Visas,” “Work Permits,” “S...
	Defendants’ Deceptive Acts and Practices Target and Impact Immigrants from Brazil
	5.10 Defendants’ advertising targets consumers based on their national origin and/or citizenship, specifically monolingual Portuguese speaking immigrants from Brazil through the internet, mobile applications, and direct communication.
	5.11 Since at least July 2022, Defendants’ website provides information and offers services exclusively in Portuguese.
	5.12 Defendants’ website represents that ACN seeks to be the best service provider in their “Brazilian culture.”
	5.13 Defendants’ website offers the ability to communicate with Defendants and request a quote by messaging Defendants on WhatsApp, a text and voice messaging application that is popular around the world, including with immigrants from Brazil.
	5.14 On information and belief, Defendants have also advertised immigration-related legal services on WhatsApp group channels known to include Brazilian immigrants.
	5.15 Defendants communicated with consumers in Portuguese. Defendants hired an additional two individuals, “Brenno Bandeira” and “Larissa Matias,” both located in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, to help in communicating with the various Portuguese speaking co...
	5.16 Defendants’ advertising to Brazilian immigrants succeeded. All or most of Defendants’ customers are monolingual Portuguese speaking immigrants from Brazil.
	Defendants Told Consumers They Would Represent Them in Immigration Proceedings
	5.17 When consumers reached out to Defendants to request legal assistance in an immigration matter, including the assistance of a lawyer to accompany them to an upcoming court hearing, Defendants represented they could assist them.
	5.18 Defendants have entered into written and oral agreements to provide, and have attempted to provide, the following for-profit services to numerous Portuguese speaking consumers in Washington: selecting and filling out immigration forms; advising c...
	5.19 Defendants provide customers with a Contract for Services with ACN stating that ACN would provide immigration related legal services, including completing petitions for asylum and applications for work authorization—which, again, constitute the u...
	5.20 Defendants’ contracts provide for fees ranging from $2,300 for applications for work authorization to as much as $6,000 for asylum petitions.
	5.21 Defendants’ contracts are signed by Nascimento on behalf of ACN.
	5.22 Defendants’ contracts for services are entirely in English.
	5.23 On information and belief, Defendants failed to provide a contract in the customer’s language, or otherwise fully translate the contract to their Portuguese speaking customers.
	5.24 Based on their written and oral communications with Defendants, consumers were led to believe that ACN was a law firm and that Nascimento was an attorney.
	5.25 Based on their written and oral communications with Defendants, consumers were led to believe that Nascimento would represent them in their immigration case and accompany them to their court hearings.
	5.26 At times, Defendants failed to accompany their clients to court hearings. Defendants failed to tell their customers that Nascimento would not represent them in court until the day before or the same day of their court hearing, if at all.
	5.27 When their customers requested that Defendants return all fees they paid, upon learning that Defendants could not represent them in court, Defendants refused.
	Defendants Were Made Aware That Their Practices Are Illegal
	5.28 On April 20, 2022, the U.S. Department of Justice, Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR), sent a Cease and Desist letter to Nascimento notifying Nascimento that her practices may be illegal.
	5.29 The Cease and Desist stated that a number of individual noncitizens had recently appeared in Immigration Court in Seattle and Tacoma, Washington, and had reported that Nascimento represented herself as an attorney or as otherwise able to assist t...
	5.30 The Cease and Desist notified Nascimento that such actions, if true, would amount to a crime under Washington law, specifically, the Unauthorized Practice of Law, and could even amount to fraud.
	5.31 Shortly after Defendants received the Cease and Desist, they updated their website from English to Portuguese. While the website changed some details, it continues to market legal services to consumers.
	5.32 Therefore, despite the Cease and Desist, Defendants continue to practice law and market legal services to Washington consumers, particularly monolingual Portuguese speaking immigrants from Brazil in Washington and the rest of the country.
	Defendants Deceptively Represented that ACN Would Supply an Attorney and Collected Illegal Fees
	5.33 In or about May 2022, Defendants began claiming they could offer their clients the option to be represented by an attorney.
	5.34 On or about May 2022, Nascimento contacted Agatha-Sandra Kingsley-Emeh, an immigration attorney in Ohio, to offer referrals of clients in need of immigration services.
	5.35 Since Kingsley-Emeh does not speak Portuguese, Nascimento offered to translate for her and the clients.
	5.36 Kingsley-Emeh agreed to meet individuals for a consultation, provided they filled out a client intake form, executed a consultation agreement, and paid a $150 consultation fee.
	5.37 Kingsley-Emeh never agreed to represent all of Defendants’ clients and she maintains an independent law practice.
	5.38 Kingsley-Emeh instructed consumers to pay her directly.
	5.39 On information and belief, Defendants instructed consumers to pay Defendants instead.
	5.40 On information and belief, Defendants collected payments from consumers beyond what Kingsley-Emeh charged them before submitting funds to Kingsley-Emeh.
	5.41 On information and belief, Kingsley-Emeh has stopped accepting clients through Defendants.
	5.42 Defendants offered to consumers the services of an attorney despite the fact that no attorney had agreed to represent them.
	5.43 Defendants have executed service agreements with consumers providing that Kingsley-Emeh would represent them in court, despite the fact that Kingsley-Emeh had not agreed to represent them.
	5.44 Defendants have billed consumers for attorney’s fees despite the fact that no attorney had agreed to or, in fact, did represent them.
	Defendants’ Illegal Conduct is Ongoing
	5.45 Defendants continue to offer and sell immigration related legal services to consumers without the assistance of an attorney, including selecting and filling out immigration forms; advising consumers on immigration law; choosing and gathering the ...
	5.46 Defendants continue to advertise immigration related legal services to consumers over the internet, through their website.
	5.47 Defendants, at all times relevant to this action, have been engaged in trade or commerce within the meaning of RCW 19.86.010(2), by advertising, marketing, and selling legal document preparation services for a fee, including the preparation of im...
	VI. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
	6.1 Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1.1 through 5.47 and incorporates them as if set fully herein.
	6.2 Throughout their course of dealing with customers, Defendants have advertised that they possess professional legal skills in the area of immigration.
	6.3 Throughout their course of dealing with customers, Defendants have engaged in the practice of selecting and advising numerous customers on their selection of immigration forms and benefits among the range of immigration forms and benefits availabl...
	6.4 Throughout their course of dealing with customers, Defendants have engaged in the practice of advising customers as to their answers on government immigration forms in order to obtain a desired immigration benefit.
	6.5 Throughout their course of dealing with customers, Defendants have advised customers as to the documents necessary to obtain a particular immigration benefit.
	6.6 Washington’s Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act prohibits any person who is not licensed to practice law or represent “others under federal law in an immigration matter” from offering immigration-related legal services for compensation.
	6.7 Defendants are not authorized to practice law or represent others under federal law in an immigration matter.
	6.8 Defendants market, prepare, and sell immigration-related legal services to Washington consumers from their Seattle office and on the Internet, in violation of RCW 19.154.060.
	6.9 Defendants have violated the Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act by engaging in prohibited acts or practices including, without limitation, the following acts and practices:
	a. Assisting in the selection, preparation, and submission of immigration forms and documents for compensation;
	b. Soliciting to prepare documents for another in a judicial or administrative proceeding in an immigration matter for compensation;
	c. Explaining, advising, or otherwise interpreting the meaning or intent of a question on a government agency form in an immigration matter for compensation;
	d. Charging a fee for referring another to a person licensed to practice law;
	e. Selecting, drafting, or completing legal documents affecting the legal rights of another in an immigration matter for compensation;
	f. Representing that Defendants have expertise or specialize in immigration law, or otherwise possess professional legal skills in the area of immigration law;
	g. Representing that Defendants can or are willing to provide services in an immigration matter that would constitute the practice of law.
	6.10 Pursuant to RCW 19.154.090, violations of the Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act are per se unfair and deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of trade or commerce, substantially affecting the public interest, in violation of the Consum...
	6.11 Defendant Nascimento controlled and supervised ACN and its unfair and deceptive acts and practices.
	VII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
	7.1 Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1.1 through 5.47 and incorporates them as if set fully herein.
	7.2 Defendants engage in “trade” or “commerce” within the meaning of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86.010(2), by advertising, marketing, selling, and soliciting business from Washington consumers at their headquarters in Seattle, and on the Inte...
	7.3 Defendants engage in unfair and deceptive acts and practices in trade or commerce including, without limitation, the following acts and practices:
	a. Advertising to the public that they are able to provide immigration-related legal services, give competent legal advice, and draft legal documents, when, in fact, they are not licensed attorneys, do not employ anyone licensed to practice law, and d...
	b. Creating the deceptive net impression that Nascimento is an attorney licensed to practice law, or otherwise authorized to represent others in immigration matters.
	c. As non-lawyers, marketing and selling, or causing to be sold, immigration-related legal documents and legal services to Washington consumers;
	d. As non-lawyers, providing legal advice or counsel to Washington consumers;
	e. As non-lawyers, selecting, drafting, and completing immigration-related legal documents for Washington consumers;
	f. Unlawfully practicing law in violation of the State Bar Act (RCW 2.48.180);
	g. Marketing unnecessary legal services to consumers;
	h. Failing to perform and/or negligently performing legal services for clients.
	i. Representing that attorneys are affiliated with and/or supervising ACN’s legal services when no such affiliation or supervision exists.
	7.4 Defendants’ conduct affects the public interest because it misrepresents their ability to practice law, and has the capacity to deceive consumers into believing they are receiving competent legal advice and services. The unlicensed, unregulated, a...
	7.5 Defendants’ deceptive acts and practices target and impact immigrants from Brazil.
	7.6 Defendant Nascimento controlled and supervised ACN and its unfair and deceptive acts and practices.
	VIII. prayer for relief
	8.1 That the Court adjudge and decree that the Defendants have engaged in the conduct complained of herein.
	8.2 That the Court adjudge and decree that the conduct complained of constitutes unfair or deceptive acts or practices and is unlawful in violation of the Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act, RCW 19.154.
	8.3 That the Court adjudge and decree that the conduct complained of constitutes unfair or deceptive acts or practices and is unlawful in violation of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86.
	8.4 That the Court issue a permanent injunction pursuant to the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86.080, enjoining and restraining Defendants and their representatives, successors, assigns, offices, agents, servants, employees, and all other persons ac...
	8.5 That the Court assess civil penalties, pursuant to RCW 19.86.140, against Defendants for each and every violation of RCW 19.86.020 caused by the conduct complained of herein.
	8.6 That the Court assess an enhanced civil penalty of $5,000, pursuant to RCW 19.86.140, against Defendants for each and every violation of RCW 19.86.020 caused by unlawful acts and practices that target or impact specific individuals or communities ...
	8.7 That the Court, as an equitable remedy, disgorge Defendants of money or property acquired by Defendants as a result of the conduct and violations complained of herein.
	8.8 That the Court make such orders pursuant to RCW 19.86.080 as it deems appropriate to provide for restitution to consumers of money or property unlawfully acquired by Defendants as a result of the conduct complained of herein.
	8.9 That the Court make such orders pursuant to RCW 19.86.080 to provide that the Plaintiff, State of Washington, have and recover from Defendants the costs of this action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.
	8.10 For such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

